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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
WESTERN DIVISION

BRUCE PARKS, JR,,
Plaintiff,
V. No. 2:16ev-2862STA-jay

MATTHEW COCHRAN and
JEFF MIDDLETON ,

N e N N

Defendans.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS

Before the Court is Defendant Jeff Middle®Motion to Dismiss (ECF No.83) filed on
May 3, 2019. The Court held a motion hearing on July 12, 2019. At that Bisiatiff Bruce
Parks, Jrhad notrespondedo the Motion and stated to the Court that he was unaware of the
filing of the Motion until the Court had set the hearing. The Court graradd Rdditional time
to prepare and filehis responseParks has now respondiedopposition, and Middten has filed
a reply. For the resans set forth below, Defendant’s MotionGRANT ED.

BACKGROUND

Parksfiled his initial Complaint on October 31, 2016arksalleges thaton August 12,
2016,while Parks was an inmate at the West Tennessee Statenaty (“WTSFP'), three staff
membess identfied in the Complaint a&Cpt. Middleton, Lt. Miller,and Sgt. Cochrah came to
Parks cell and woke him. (Compl. at 5, ECF No. IThe staff memberrst removedParks
and his property from the cell (Id.) When Rarks inquired whystaf were moving him,

Middleton told Parksthat a femalecorrectional €ficer had accuse®arksof puting semen on
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her. (Id.) According toParks the officer never actualleported tis allegationor produced any
evidence to suppt it. (Id.) Whenthe staff memilers returnedParksto his cell, still in
handcuffs, he was told to put his knees on the bumd) Cochranthen began to hit Parks,
verbally and mentally abusdnim, and then threatened to apply a tasétarks’ head.(Id.) The
initial Complaint allges that Sg Cochranand the other two staff members avparticipated in
the assault left the cell and that Parks did not receive medical treatment until thaynegtd
Parksalleges in the initialComplaintthat he fled a grievance over the asiabut could not
verify that the gevance was filed becauBarksis in lockdown and in the SMU programid.j
Theinitial Complaint named only two Defendants, Warden Jonathan Lebo and Matthew
Cochran the correctionalofficer who allegedly wed excesive force against Parks In a
screening order dated June 30, 2017 (ECF No. 9), the @murissed theclaim against the
warden butconcluded that the Complaistated aplausible claimagainst Cochrarfor the
violation d Parks’Eighth Amendmentights. Cochransubsequently filed a motion for summary
judgment,arguing that Parkéad failed to exhaust his claim properly through the Tennessee
Department of Correction (“TDOC”) grievance proce3$$ie Court held a hearing @odrans
motion andlater deniedthe motion in a written orderholding that genuineissuesof fact
remainedon the exhaustion issueThe Courtalso directed TDOC to produce the followg
information to Parks: (1) the form 2592 report prepared at WT&Runenting Plaintiff's
August 122016, injuries; (2) all photographs taken of Plaintiff's injuries on August 12, 2016, or
at any time thereafter; (3) the medical records for the treatment otiffRiAugust 12, 2016
injuries, both at WTSP andutsidemedcal facility(ies), including éllow-up care (if any); and
(4) all other reports, documents, or information in the possession of the Depadment

Correction related to Plaintiff's injuries or claims arising out of or related tinthdent on or



abou August 12, 2016. Following the atry of a protective order, TDOC submitted the
information for in camera review and produced a copy to Parks.

Based on the contents GDOC's disclosures, Parks filed a motion to amend his
complaint to add Middleton asdefendant, which the Courgraned on November 28, 2018In
his Amended ComplaifECF No. 56) Parksalleges that Middkton was the chief of securigt
WTSP in August 2016 and that dtlleton ordered Cochran and another correctional officer
identified as “Mr. Braderi to assault ParksThe Amended Complaint allegahat Parkdearned
for the fird time from TDOC internal reports that Middleton was cited for violations of TDOC
policy overthe ircident. Parks also alleges that Middletardd a polygraphed, presumably
when guestioned about the alleged assault. Otherwise, the Amended Complaint incorporates b
reference the fact pleadings in thréginal Complaint.

In his Motion to Dismiss, Middleton argues that fmendedComplaintfails to state a
plaugble claim against him. Middleton first raises two claims processing arguments for the
dismissal of theAmended Complain Middleton contends that the oiyear statute of
limitations has run on any claim Parks has against him and in the altethatiarks failed to
exhaust hisadmnistrative remedies throughthe TDOC grievanceprocess On the merits,
Middleton argues that the Amended Complaint fails to allege that Middleton was sitiarpto
intervene or prevent thalleged use of excessiverée against Rrks For these reass,
Middletonargues thathe Court should dismiss tleaims against him.

Parksopposes the Motion to DismisdAccording to Parks, his clains that Middleton
directed subordinatecorrectiond officers to assault himallegations which constitat dired
involvement in the violation of Parksonstitutional rights. With respect to the exhaustion issue,

Parks reiterateargumentde first raised in response @chrans motion for summary judgment



on the exhaustion issu As for the statute of limitatiws, Parks argues that he only learned of the
extent of Middletofrs role inthe alleged assault after the Court ordefddOC in September
2018to prodiee its full internal investigation into the mattehs a result, Parkequests that the
Court deny Middétoris Motion to Dismiss.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A defendant may move to dismiss a claim “for failure to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted” under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). When considdRuolg a
12(b)(6) motion, the Court nstitreat all of the welpleaded allegtions of the pleadings as true
and construe all of the allegations in the light most favorable to thenoeimg party. Scheuer
v. Rhodes416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974%aylor v. ParkerSea Co., 975 F.2d 252, 254 (6thiiC
1992). However, legal conclusiongr unwarranted factual inferences need not be accepted as
true.Morgan v. Church’s Fried Chicke29 F.2d 10, 12 (6th Cir. 1987)To avoid dismissal
under Rule 12(b)(6), a complaimust contain either direct or iafential allegations with respect
to dl material elements of the claimWittstock v. Mark a Van Sile, In@30 F.3d 899, 902 (6th
Cir. 2003).

Under Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a complaint negdamain “a
short and plain statement of the claim showing thaptéader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 8(a)(2). Although this standard does not require “detailed factual allegations,” it doeserequir
more than “labels and conclusions” or famulaic recitation of the elemenof a cause of
action.” Ashcroftv. Igbal,556 U.S. 662, 681 (2009Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomblyg50 U.S.
544, 555 (2007). See also Reilly v. Vadlamud80 F.3d 617, 622 (6th Cir. 2012) (quoting
Twombly,550 U.S.at $5). In order to survive a moh to dismiss, the plaintiff mustllege

facts that, if accepted as true, are sufficient “to raise a right to relieédbe speculative level”



and to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fatabmbly 550 U.S. at 555, 570. “A
claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allowsahe to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the miscondued.aligigal, 556
U.S. at 678.
ANALYSIS

Middletonseels the dismissal of the Amend€@bmplaints claims against hirhased o
Parks failure to exhaushis administrative renties the running of thestatute of linitations,
anddefects in the pleadingOf these issuegxhaustion continues to laethresbld question in
this casethough t remainsa question the Court cannot decide as a matter of 1@e Prison
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PLRA) mandates that an atenexhaustsuch administrative
remedies aare availabldefore bringing suit to cllange prison conditions.’Ross vBlake 136
S.Ct. 1850, 18545 (2016) (quotingd2 U.S.C.8 1997e(g) Simply put, “unexhaustedlaims
cannot be brought in courtJones v. Bogkb49 U.S. 199, 211 (2007)The Courthas already
concluded that genuinssue of fact remain over whethemafks exhausted his administrative
remedies through the TDOC grievance procedseOrder Denying Cochraa Mot for Summ
J, Nov. 28, 2019(ECF No. 53). For theeasonsarticulated in the Cours order denying
Cochrans Rue 56 motion, the Courdeclines to dismissthe Amended ComplaininderRule
12(b)(6) forParks allegedfailure to exhaust

Middletonalsoarglesthatthe Amended Complaitd claims against him are time barred.

A statute of limitations is an affirative defense under Federal RuleGivil Procedure 8(c), and
so it is typically inappropriate to dismiss a claim as untimely on a Rule 12(b)(6)xnG&taldo
v. U.S. Steel Corp676 F.3d 542, 547 (6th Cir. 2012). But when the allegations on thefface

the complaint show that the afaiis timebarred, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is prod@ock



549 U.S.at215 Parks claims for the violation of his constitutional rigtegse under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983. Section 1983 imposes liability on alperson who, under color of any statute,
ordinance, regulation, custom or usage, of any State” subjects another to “thetbepofany
rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws.” 42 U.S.C. § T8@&3.
statute of limitations on @aim for the violation of a constitutional right under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is
one year in Tennessee, meaning the limitatfmeriod on any claiRarkshad againsMliddletonran
on August 12 2017. Jordan v. Blount Cnty 885 F.3d 413, 4155th Ar. 2018)(citing Tenn.
Code Ann. § 28-3-104(a), ambberson vIenn, 399 F.3d 792, 794 (6th Cir. 2005 arksfiled
his Amended Complaintn December 14, @18, more tlan one yeamfter the limitations period
had expired.Parks claim against Middleton will oglbe @nsider timely then, if the Anmeled
Complaint relats back to thdiling date of hs original @mplaint.

Rule 15(c)(1) provides that amended pleadings “relate back to the date of thalorig
pleading” but only under specific circumstances. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(Ihe amended
pleadng relates back to the original pleadimdgperethe amendment changes tparty or the
naming of the party against whom a claim is assenelif the followingconditions are met: (1)
“the amendment asserts a claim orfedee that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or
occurrence set odbr attempted to be set edh the original pleading seeFed. R. Civ. P.
15(c)(1)(B); and(2) “if, within the period provided by Rule 4(m) for serving the summons and
complaint, theparty to be brought in by amendntefi) received such notice of the action that it
will not be prejudiced in defending on the merits; @ndknew or should have known that the
action would have been brought against it, but for a mistake concerninydper party’s
identity.” Fed. RCiv. P. 15(c)(1)(C)see alsdMayle v. Felix 545 U.S. 644, 656 (2005).

In this case, the Amended Complaint did not change a party or the naming of a party.



Parks simplyaddedMiddleton asa completely n& party to tle adion. The Sixth Circuithas
heldthat the relation back doctrine does not apuherean amended pleading adds a completely
new partyto the case.SeelLester v. Wow Car Co., Ltd675 F.App'x 588, 59293 (6th Gr.
2017) (“Since the New Defendants weredad to the complaint and not even plausibly
substituted for an original named defendant, @dayns against the New Defendants cannot meet
the requirements of Rule 15(c) which speaks only of an amendment changing ther plagty o
naming of a party). Paksdoes not actually disputkdt the statute of limitatiortgars his claim
against Middletoror argue that he did not name Middleton in his initial Complaint due to a
mistake Instead,Parks seems to argue that die notlearn of the findings of aninternal
investigationinto Middletoris role in the alleged assaulntil he received discoveriyn 2018.
This does not constitute grounds for applying the relation back docffine.Court holds that
Parks Amended Complaint against Middleton was filmatsde of the statute of limitaties and
does not relate back to the date of his original Complaint. efore; Middletm’s Motion to
Dismiss iSGRANTED on the statutefdimitations issue.

Having deéermined that Parksclaims against Middleton were fdeoutside of the one
year statute fdimitations, the Court need not reach the issue of whether the Amendedaddmpl
plausibl alleges a section 1983 claegainst Middleton.

CONCLUSION

Parls’ Amended Complaint adding Middleton as a party to this action ¢ thoe
barred. Therefore Middleton's Motion to Dismissnust beGRANTED.
IT IS SO ORDERED.
s/ S. Thomas Anderson
S. THOMAS ANDERSON
CHIEFUNITED STATES DISTRICTJUDGE

Date: August 12, 2019.



